THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 13-ALJ-17-0218-CC
Tracking No. 2014-000214

Eugenia Boggero, d/b/a Boggero's Portable Toilets, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Roy R. Hemphill, SC Bar # 15142
Hannah K. Metts, SC Bar # 72818
McDonald Patrick Poston Hemphill & Roper, LLC
P.O. Box 1547
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 229-2511
Attorneys for Appellant

Burnet R. Maybank, III, SC Bar # 3699
Nexsen Pruet, LLC
P.O. Drawer 2426
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 540-2048
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

JUL 09 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TRUE OBJECT OF APPELLANT'S BUSINESS WAS NOT A SERVICE AND THAT APPELLANT'S GROSS PROCEEDS WERE THEREFORE SUBJECT TO THE STATE SALES AND USE TAX.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Eugenia Boggero (“Ms. Boggero”) owns and operates a portable restroom business known as Boggero’s Portable Toilets (hereinafter “Boggero’s”) (Ms. Boggero and Boggero’s collectively referred to herein as “Appellant”).¹ (R. pp. 31-32). Appellant has not applied for a retail sales tax license, collected sales or use tax from her customers, or remitted sales or use tax to the South Carolina Department of Revenue (hereinafter “Respondent”) as Appellant has always believed that the true object of her business is providing a service to her customers. (R. p. 103, lines 5-21). Respondent conducted a sales tax audit of Appellant for the periods of January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2011 (hereinafter the “audit period”), and thereafter on or about May 7, 2013, the Respondent’s auditor issued a Notice of Assessment imposing sales tax, penalties, and interest on Appellant’s gross proceeds from Boggero’s (tax: \$8,891.96; interest: \$602.27; penalty: \$3,191.36). (R. pp. 5, 7). Appellant timely protested the Proposed Assessment, and Respondent subsequently issued its Department Determination sustaining the imposition of the sales tax and related penalties and interest. (R. p. 7).

Appellant thereafter timely requested a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court (ALC) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-460 (2000 & Supp. 2013)² and S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310 et. seq. (2005 & Supp. 2013). A hearing was held before the ALC on September 12, 2013, wherein Appellant argued that the true object of

¹ Appellant’s business also includes trash removal services, but Respondent did not assess sales tax on the portion of Appellant’s gross proceeds allocable to the trash removal services, and thus, those are not at issue in this case. (R. p. 5, n.1).

² Appellant inadvertently cited to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-470 (2000 & Supp. 2013) in its Initial Brief. The correct citation as noted above is S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-460 (2000 & Supp. 2013).

her business was providing a service, *i.e.*, the removal and disposal of human waste, and was, therefore, not subject to the State sales and use tax. The ALC issued a Final Order and Decision on January 6, 2014, sustaining Respondent's Determination and thereby imposing the sales tax, penalties, and interest as provided in such Determination on Appellant's gross proceeds related to her portable restroom business. (R. pp. 4-19). On February 3, 2014, Appellant served a Notice of Appeal of the ALC's Final Order and Decision on Respondent and filed the same on February 4, 2014, with the Court of Appeals.

FACTS

Ms. Boggero testified that she has operated Boggero's as a sole proprietorship in Greenwood, South Carolina, since 2005, when she took the business over from her father. Boggero's is a family business and the portable restroom service has been in operation since 1968, when Ms. Boggero's father started the business. (R. pp. 31-32; p. 103). She testified that the equipment used in her business includes tanker trucks, holding tanks for the waste, holding tanks for fresh water, multiple pumps, hoses, valves, and gauges as well as other equipment and chemicals. (R. p. 35). She also stated that there are certain regulatory requirements related to the portable restroom business and those regulations limit who can operate that type of business. Ms. Boggero stated that the Department of Health and Environment Control (DHEC) governs those regulations, and that she has a DHEC license, which allows her to remove and haul human waste. She also testified that the DHEC regulations set forth minimum standards of maintenance for her tanker trucks and other standards related to the equipment associated with her business. She stated that DHEC also regulates the separation of fresh water from human waste and spills in connection with her business. (R. pp. 33-36). Ms. Boggero testified that a portable

restroom is a restroom with a small hold tanking, which is a vessel or receptacle for human waste. (R. p. 34, lines 3-5).

Ms. Boggero testified that she is a member of Portable Sanitation Association International (PSAI), which is a trade group dedicated to portable toilets. She stated that she has participated in PSAI training and is currently certified by PSAI. (R. p. 36, line 15-p. 39, line14).

Ms. Boggero testified that approximately 80% of her business is related to servicing portable restroom units at construction sites and approximately 20% is related to servicing units, including toilet units and sink units, at special events, such as weddings and festivals. She testified that Boggero's provides services to people or companies who have their own permanent toilets as well as providing services to those who do not own their units but use her units on a temporary basis. (R. p. 40). She stated that PSAI requires a portable restroom to be serviced at a minimum threshold, which is one service every week per unit. (R. p. 41, lines 18-22). She testified that even if she knows the unit does not need to be serviced because it has not been used frequently, she still services the unit according to PSAI standards. (R. p. 41, line 23-p. 42, line 4).

Ms. Boggero testified that to service a portable restroom, her tanker truck pulls up to a job site and the pump is turned on. A wand is inserted into the holding tank for the restroom. The wand is then removed and the suction pulls the waste out of the unit. At that time, the wand is turned off as well as the pump and the wand is replaced. Then a bucket is filled with fresh water and deodorizer is added, and it is placed back in the unit. The entire unit is then sanitized with soap and water. (R. p. 42, line 19-p. 43, line 8). She affirmed that this servicing process is according to PSAI standards. (R. p. 43, lines 9-10).

Ms. Boggero testified that she has new customers sign a Service Agreement. (R. pp. 43-44; pp. 208-209). She testified that she does not call it a rental agreement “[b]ecause we do not, never have, rented anything.” (R. p. 49, line 15). She further testified that she has never rented a portable toilet per day, per week, or per month. (R. p. 49, lines 16-22). She testified that the Service Agreement provides that the customer is responsible for paying for service payments. (R. p. 49, line 23-p. 50, line 2). Specifically, the Service Agreement provides, in relevant part:

2. The Customer will be responsible for the following service payments:

of Portable Toilets___ Cleaned # of Times per Week___
Price___

...

3. Services will be invoiced every 4 weeks (28 days), and the Customer will make payments within 15 days of being invoiced.

...

6. The Customer understands that the services fees for the use of portable toilets and or dumpsters may increase in the future. . . .

9. The duration of the service period is determined from the date of shipment on our part as indicated on this service agreement until date of pick up order. . . . (R. pp. 208-209).

She stated that if a customer requested a unit be cleaned more often than required by PSAI standards, then she would charge the customer for an extra service. (R. p. 51, lines 8-12). The Service Agreement further states that if the customer does not timely pay the invoice, then its service will be terminated. (R. p. 52, lines 15-16; pp. 208-209). She testified that the units stay in place as long as the customer wants and that she continues to

service the unit as long as it stays in that location. There is no term or time period set forth in the Service Agreement. (R. p. 69, line 14-p. 70, line 3).

Ms. Boggero testified that in general she charges a service fee of \$20 per service for customers on a construction job in Greenwood County and \$22 per service for customers on a construction job outside Greenwood County. (R. p. 50, line 20-p. 51, line 4). She stated that she bills on a 28-day billing cycle for this type of customer. (R. p. 51, lines 13-17; p. 55 line 25-p. 56, line 5). Ms. Boggero testified that she charges a different rate for special events than for her weekly customers, such as construction sites. She testified that more people generally use the special event units than the weekly units and that there is therefore more waste. She incurs greater service charges at the disposal plant because of the greater amount of waste, which consequently is a large portion of the reason she charges more for special events than for weekly jobs. (R. p. 108, line 25-p. 110, line 6).

Appellant introduced into evidence copies of several invoices during the audit period. (R. p. 56, lines 6-10; pp. 210-222). Ms. Boggero identified Appellant's Exhibit 6 as an invoice for Eighteen Mill Construction Company for the service period of January 19, 2009 through February 15, 2009, which is 28 days. This customer had one restroom, and it was serviced once a week on a 28-day billing cycle, for a total of \$80. However, Ms. Boggero testified that this particular customer was a preferred customer and received a 10% discount, which resulted in a total balance due of \$72 for the 28-day billing cycle. The invoice specifically states that the charge is for "restroom weekly service." (R. pp. 57-58; p. 210). Ms. Boggero stated that this invoice was representative of approximately 80% of her business. (R. p. 58, lines 13-16). As to Appellant's Exhibit 13, Ms. Boggero stated

that this was an invoice to a construction company and that the original charge was for \$80, but this unit was only serviced 3 times instead of 4 times during the 28-day billing cycle, so the invoice reflects a balance due of \$60. She stated that she charged that customer less because she serviced the unit 3 times instead of 4 times. That invoice also reflects a charge for an “extra service” because the customer requested an additional service and she performed that additional service for an additional fee. (R. p. 60, line 22-p. 62, line 24; p. 217). Ms. Boggero testified that Appellant’s Exhibit 14 was an invoice to Spann Church³, which owns its own portable restroom unit and calls her occasionally to service the unit. That invoice reflects a one-time charge for “extra service” in the amount of \$35. She testified that she charged Spann Church \$35 for the one-time service because Spann Church allows the unit to sit up for several months, which causes more waste than usual to build up, and she charges a higher rate for a higher level of service or removal of a greater amount of waste. Ms. Boggero specifically testified that the difference in charges did not have anything to do with Spann Church owning its own unit. (R. p. 62, line 25-p. 64, line 1). Ms. Boggero testified that Appellant’s Exhibit 16 was an invoice to a customer who owns its own units and she charged them \$20 per unit for a one-time charge, which is the same charge as if Boggero’s had owned the units. (R. p. 66, line 16-p. 67, line 8).

Ms. Boggero testified that she dumps the waste removed from the portable restroom units at Greenwood Metro District (GMD). She averred that in order to engage in the activity of dumping waste at GMD, she had to have a DHEC license, which she does, and that this is another limitation that prohibits any individual or entity from providing the

³ The Transcript states that Appellant’s Exhibit 14 is an invoice to Stand Church, but the actual Exhibit reflects that it is an invoice to Spann Church and the Brief therefore refers to Spann Church. (R. pp. 62-64; p. 218).

service that Boggero's does. (R. p. 47, line 13-p. 48, line 19). Ms. Boggero testified that when she services a unit that has accumulated more than average waste, she charges a higher rate for a higher level of service because she is, in turn, charged more at GMD for the greater amount of waste. (R. p. 63, lines 10-23; p. 109, line 17-p. 110, line 6).

Ms. Boggero testified that if there is a long-term placement of a unit, then she does not charge for the extra time or months of placement, but only for the servicing of the unit. (R. p. 65, line 6-p. 66, line 14). She also testified that she charges the same price for customers who use her units and for customers who own their own units. She stated that the reason for this is because she charges for the removal of waste and not for the use of the restroom. (R. p. 67, lines 11-19). She reiterated that she only charges for the service and that she has only ever charged for the service. She testified that her customers will not use the portable unit unless she is there to service the unit. She views the portable units as vessels or receptacles for collecting human waste and that she services the human waste. (R. p. 68, line 1-p. 69, line 13).

Ms. Boggero testified that the true object of her business is to remove waste and that is a service. (R. p. 70, lines 18-21). She stated that she was raised to earn someone's money and that is why she does not charge rent. She earns her client's money by providing a service and giving the best service. (R. p. 78, lines 6-11).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court's review of the ALC's order must be confined to the record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). Tax appeals to the ALC are subject to the Administrative Procedures Act. Long Cove Home Owners' Ass'n v. Beaufort Cnty. Tax Equalization Bd., 327 S.C. 135, 139, 488 S.E.2d 857, 860 (1997). Accordingly, review of the ALC decision is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5), which states:

The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

(a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;

* * *

(d) affected by other error of law;

(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

See also id. § 1-23-610(B). As the South Carolina Supreme Court stated in Media General Communications, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 388 S.C. 138, 144, 694 S.E.2d 525, 527-28 (2010): “A reviewing court may reverse the decision of the ALC where it is in violation of a statutory provision or it is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)(a), (d) (2009).”

Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which the appellate court may decide without any deference to the court below. CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Co. Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (citing City of Rock Hill v. Harris, 391 S.C. 149, 152, 705 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2011)). In addition, except for the deletion of one sentence and the addition of a sentence, the ALC adopted Respondent’s proposed order practically verbatim. Compare Respondent’s Proposed Order with ALC Order. When a lower court adopts the prevailing party’s proposed order verbatim, that order is entitled to lower deference and may be subjected to increased scrutiny on appeal. See Anderson v. City of Bessemer, 470 U.S. 564, 572-73 (1985); United States v. Marine Bancorporation, Inc., 418 U.S. 602, 615, n.13 (1974); Flowers v. Crouch-Walker Corp., 552 F.2d 1277,

1284 (7th Cir. 1977); Holsey v. Armour & Co., 683 F.2d 864, 866 (4th Cir. 1982); Bright v. Westmoreland Cnty., 380 F.3d 729, 731-2 (3d Cir. 2004).

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TRUE OBJECT OF APPELLANT'S BUSINESS WAS NOT A SERVICE AND THUS FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S GROSS PROCEEDS WERE SUBJECT TO THE STATE SALES AND USE TAX.

Appellant contends that the true object of her business is the removal and disposal of human waste and thus, the gross proceeds from her business are not subject to the State sales and use tax. The ALC found that the true object of Appellant's business was the use of tangible personal property, portable restrooms, and therefore subject to the State sales and use tax. The record in this matter is replete with evidence that the portable restrooms have no value to Appellant's customers except as a result of the service of removing and disposing of human waste provided by Appellant.

While it is cannon law that tax exemption statutes are strictly against the taxpayer, e.g., CFRE, LLC, 395 S.C. at 67, 716 S.E.2d at 877, ambiguity in tax exemption statutes is resolved against the government. See Ryder Truck Lines, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 248 S.C. 148, 152, 149 S.E.2d 435, 437 (1966); see also Alltel Comm., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Rev., 399 S.C. 313, 318, 731 S.E.2d 869, 872 (2012) (noting general rule that where substantial doubt exists as to the construction of tax statutes, the doubt must be resolved against the government) (internal citations omitted); Southeastern Fire Ins. Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm., 253 S.C. 407, 410, 171 S.E.2d 355, 356 (1969). South Carolina Code Section 12-36-910(A) and Section 12-36-1110 impose a sale tax on the gross proceeds of sales of tangible personal property at retail in this State. The term "sale" is defined in South Carolina Code Section 12-36-100 to include "any transfer, exchange, or barter, conditional

or otherwise, of tangible personal property for a consideration including...a rental, lease, or other form of agreement....” South Carolina Code Section 12-36-60 defines the term “tangible personal property” as something that can “be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses.”

In South Carolina, proceeds derived from services are not generally subject to the sales and use tax, except when the sales and use tax is specifically imposed on such services by statute (i.e., accommodation services, communication services). S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-308 (2012 & Supp. 2013); see also id. 117-308.1-16 (providing that the following services are not subject to the State sales and use tax: professional services, dentists, doctors, lawyers, architects, ophthalmologists, oculists, optometrists, hospitals, nursing homes, advertising agencies, bookbinders, paper cutters, jewelry repairman, shoe repairman, barbers, beauty shops, taxidermists, auto painters, and painters).

Whether a given transaction is the furnishing of a service or the sale or lease of tangible personal property is determined by the “true object” test. See Fraternal Order of Police v. S.C. Dep’t of Rev., 332 S.C. 496, 506 S.E.2d 495 (1998) (referencing the application of the true object test in determining whether a transaction is subject to the sales tax); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-308 (“The receipts from services, when the services are the true object of the transaction, are not subject to the sales and use tax. . . .”). The Respondent has relied on the “true object” test in a number of policy documents and private rulings. See South Carolina Sales and Use Tax Manual Chapter 7, p. 1-3 (2013 Edition); see also S.C. Rev. Advisory Bulletin #01-5 (June 25, 2001); S.C. Rev. Rul. #09-5 (May 19, 2009); S.C. Rev. Rul. #04-8 (May 13, 2004); S.C. Rev. Rul. #04-5 (Mar. 30, 2004); S.C. Rev. Rul. #98-16 (July 8, 1998); S.C. P.L.R. #12-2 (June 11, 2012); S.C. P.L.R. #07-

6 (Nov. 16, 2007); S.C. P.L.R. #07-3 (Mar. 20, 2007); S.C. P.L.R. #05-5 (Oct. 31, 2005); S.C. P.L.R. #05-2 (Apr. 15, 2005); S.C. P.L.R. #04-2 (Jan. 12, 2004); S.C. P.L.R. #97-4 (Sept. 18, 1997); S.C. P.L.R. #92-5 (June 1, 1992); S.C. Private Rev. Op. #01-5 (Dec. 7, 2001); S.C. Tech. Adv. Mem. # 95-1 (May 23, 1995) (all applying true object test in connection with the application of the State sales and use tax).

The true object test is described in 9 Vanderbilt Law Review 231 (1956) as follows:

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