STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable John D. McLeod
Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 13-ALJ-17-0218-CC
Tracking No.: 2014-000214

Eugenia Boggero, d/b/a Boggero's Portable Toilets,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol I. McMahan (Bar No. 07487)
Counsel for Litigation
Ann Marie Thompson (Bar No. 76121)
Counsel for Litigation
Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)
Chief Counsel for Litigation
PO Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211
803-898-5576
803-896-0171 (Fax)
Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED

AUG 25 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

* * *

As we also noted in WTAR, the taxpayer's "manner of computing the invoice" is not determinative of either the true object of the transaction or whether the service provided is truly separate and distinct

Here, the ALC reviewed Respondent's policy documents (R. pp. 277-278, 279-282, 283-288), heard the testimony of James McCutchen and correctly concluded the Respondent had consistently applied the "true object" test to the facts of this case. (R. pp. 8, 14, 15). Gilstrap v. South Carolina Budget & Control Bd., 310 S.C. 210, 423 S.E.2d 101 (1992). Greystone Catering, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 326 S.C. 551, 486 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 1997). That is, each transaction had been analyzed to determine the

from the property leased. 217 Va. at 884, 234 S.E.2d at 249. Otherwise, a taxpayer could create its own tax exemption merely by altering the printing of its invoices.^[17]

Appellant argues in its Initial Brief at p. 20, that the ALC should follow W. Hellerstein's view as provided in *State Taxation*, 3rd Edition, § 12.08, fn. 165, rather than the ALC's application of this case. First it should be noted that in his article, Mr. Hellerstein initially states as to the LZM case, "although supportable"- here too, the facts of the case support the ALC's Order. However, this argument was not raised below, and as such is not subject to review by this Court. Even should the Court consider this argument it fails. In fact, Hellerstein's comments would have no application to this case. He states in his article; "A different result might obtain, for example, if pumping services were priced differently or if toilets were sold outright." Here the facts show the Appellant did not sell the toilets, but rented or provided them for use by the customer. (R. pp. 205-207). Even without reference to this case, South Carolina law applying the true object test to the facts of this case support the application of the sales tax here - particularly in light of the General Assembly's exempting 70% of the gross proceeds from these businesses. Appellant also cites to various policy documents from other taxing authorities. (Initial Brief, 12; R. pp. 289-290) as supporting its theory of the case. However such argument again is not before this Court. The ALC did not adopt the views of these jurisdictions in its Order. As discussed more thoroughly below, as the issue was not raised and ruled on, it is not before this Court's review. Even were the Court to address this argument, it must fail. The South Carolina General Assembly has spoken to the issue here through the exemption of 70% of the gross proceeds of sale from the business through Section 12-36-2120 (62). The "information" from other jurisdictions is interesting but not South Carolina law.

“true object” – a factual determination – and such true object in this case was that the customer was paying for the portable unit(s).¹⁸

¹⁸Appellant argues numerous policy documents not brought to the ALC’s attention, that is, these documents were not raised in support of any issue below. These arguments are not now properly before this Court. Should the Court entertain these arguments, such remain without merit. At the hearing Respondent’s witness, Mr. McCutchen, testified that it is the Respondent’s longstanding administrative policy that charges for the rental of portable restrooms are subject to the State sales and use tax. He testified about a 1977 South Carolina Tax Commission Decision, Opinion No. S-D-115, in which the Commission found that charges for the rental of portable restrooms are subject to the State sales and use tax, notwithstanding the fact that such charges were also for the servicing of those portable restrooms. He testified that the Respondent has issued two Advisory Opinions (S.C. Rev. Rul. #09-5 and S.C. Rev. Proc. #01-5), in which the Department provided guidance to taxpayers and tax practitioners regarding the imposition of sales and use tax on charges for the use of portable restrooms. He further testified that these documents are available in hard copy upon request and also available at the Department’s website. (R. p. 8; R. pp. 168, 175, 176, 180, 184). (R. pp. 277-278, 279-282, 283-288). These are all documents applicable to Appellant’s business, portable toilets. Contrarily, Appellant has provided numerous references to policy documents in its brief (Appellant’s Initial Brief, 12). Each is distinguished here. As an initial note, none of the Appellant’s citation of additional policy documents addresses portable toilet businesses. Second, as to the private letter rulings cited, they specifically note that the conclusions reached apply only to the specific set of facts therein. Moreover, S.C. Private Letter Ruling #05-2 finds that charges for copies of medical records are subject to the State sales and use tax – such supports the case here. S.C. Private Letter Ruling #12-2, which addresses whether a certain communications service satisfies the “data processing” exemption for the sales and use tax on communication services, is not relevant to the instant case. The rental, lease, or other form of agreement to rent or use portable restrooms is subject to the sales and use pursuant to § 12-36-910(a)(1), as the sale of tangible personal property. Such a rental, lease or other form of agreement is not subject to the sales and use tax on communications pursuant to § 12-36-910(a)(3). S.C. Private Letter Ruling #92-5 addresses the taxability of “dinner attractions” for purposes of admissions and sales and use tax; finding the meal is subject to sales tax and the entertainment is subject to admissions tax – none of which apply to the instant set of facts. S.C. Private Letter Ruling #97-3 addresses wireless communications sale and installation and concludes “XYZ” is selling tangible personal property, it is not a fixture and is subject to the tax. S.C. Private Letter Ruling #97-4 finds that security monitoring is not subject to sales tax – the true object is the monitoring for security purposes; finding the system is of no use – it is the monitoring that the customer is buying. In the current matter, but for the portable toilet there would be no waste to remove – the customer is paying for the privacy, the four walls, and amenities. S.C. Private Letter Ruling #05-5 imposes sales tax on the purchaser of the materials for use by others. Here, Appellant

Applying the facts of this case to the statutory framework in the foregoing well supports, by the substantial evidence on the whole record, the ALC's finding that the true object of Appellant's business is the provision of tangible personal property. The transcript is replete with documentary evidence and testimony from Appellant and Respondent's witnesses that she provides portable toilets, tangible personal property, and other amenities for use by her customers.

First, Appellant's agreement with her customers specifically provides the type and number of units to be provided to the customer, which Appellant retains title to the same and any damage to such tangible personal property will be borne by the customer (R. pp. 6-7; R. pp. 206-207; *Infra*, pp. 7-8).

The Appellant testified at length as to the various tangible personal property provided by her to her customers (R. p. 74-76). She testified that she offers customers' construction units, VIP units, handicap units, sink units, high rise units, and the waste tanks to accompany same. Further she provides amenities as requested by the customer. (R. pp. 75-76).

Moreover, the Appellant's website advertising the rental of tangible personal property supports the ALC's Order in this case. Appellant testified that she hired someone to set up the website, paid for it, the website was in existence during the audit period and remains so to this date, and further that she has not requested that any changes be made to it. The products, toilets and other amenities are pictured and discussed on such website. Appellant described each "unit" (portable toilet) available to customers at

owns the portable toilets and other amenities, tangible personal property, and provides the same to her customers for use as shown in the invoices and agreement.

length during the hearing. (R. p. 6, fn. 3; R. pp. 228-230; R. p. 54, line 12-p. 55, line 10; p. 72, line 5-p. 73, line 3; p. 74, line 17-p. 77, line 14; p. 125, lines 5-22).

The Appellant's invoices¹⁹ for the periods at issue support the ALC's finding. By way of example, the Appellant testified regarding Bates No. 86 (R. pp. 234, 235, 236-276): "you requested holding tank to be picked up, but I told him we would leave it there without charging because we have no immediate use for it." (R. pp. 80, 87-88, CD: Respondent's Exhibit 4, PDF1). Appellant testified that the note on the invoice reflected no charge for "service," however the language of the invoice reflects "tank" and "it," the tangible personal property. This tangible personal property is the same equipment referenced and provided for "use" of the customer in Appellant's agreement (R. pp. 205-207 and pp. 208-209).²⁰

¹⁹Appellant argues that Respondent's Exhibits 6-18 reflect her "business" and that such is service. (Appellant's Brief 6-7). However, as noted on Respondent's Exhibit 7 (R. pp. 236-276), this is incorrect. Multiple invoices noted on the summary show units delivered, picked up, and various types of units – VIP, Handicap, etc. (CD: Respondent's Exhibit 4) Such invoices were not reflected in Appellant's Exhibits 6-18. Appellant also argues that the Department has incorrectly imposed the sales tax on service only as some of Appellant's customers own their own toilets and Appellant merely provides a service. (R. p. 218; R. p. 63, lines 1-3). First, the burden is on the Appellant to show the "gross proceeds" are not subject to tax, S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-950 (2000). It is true that Appellant's Exhibit 14, based on Appellant's testimony, is for service provided to a customer who owns their own toilet. The invoice is for \$70. Similarly, Appellant's testimony (R. pp. 220-222; R. pp. 66-67) indicates that these invoices are service for customers who own their own units. The total charges thereon are \$212. As such, for these particular invoices (R. pp. 218, 220, 221, 222), 30% of this amount was included in the tax base, thus a sales tax of \$5.04 was imposed by Respondent on this amount. However, such incorrect calculation does not alter the substantial evidence on the whole record supporting the fact the true object of Appellant's business is providing portable toilets for use by the customer.

²⁰Appellant testified regarding her invoices multiple times throughout the hearing indicating the provision of portable toilets and other property for use by the customer. Although her testimony indicates each time that the charge is only for "service," there is no doubt that the customer is provided the tangible personal property as noted on the

The ALC based its "true object" analysis on the testimony of Respondent's witnesses as well. Auditor Wes Butler addressed what he determined on audit. He testified the "true object" of the transactions here were as follows:

A. [Mr. Butler} I would say the customer is interested in a portable toilet and using the portable toilet. They're interested in the privacy of the portable toilet. She has various special units that she's using. VIP units, for her for the summer months, for those couple of days that she'll provide those. Those customers – you can't just put anything out there for the customer. They desire privacy they desire specific things within the portable toilet.

(R. p. 139, line 22-p. 140, lines 3-7).

Mr. Butler reiterates the "true object" of the transaction:

Well, I guess that I would think of it this way. She [Appellant] couldn't just put a holding tank out there with nothing around it. She could not just set a holding tank for somebody to use the restroom in.

(R. p. 141, lines 10-14).

invoice. (R. p. 88 – "special event standard unit" provided; R. p. 91, CD: Respondent's Exhibit 4, PFD1, Bates No. 14 "new delivery;" (R. p. 94, CD: Respondent's Exhibit 4, PDF1, Bates 30 "recent pickup" "free pickup" - - reflecting that portable toilets are picked up or delivered). On cross-examination, the Appellant testified:

Q. [Ms. McMahan] So when any invoice says restroom weekly service, new delivery prorated, that means the actual port-o-potty went out there for a number of – the number that are listed on the invoice; is that correct? They were delivered out there by y'all?

A: [Ms. Boggero] If it has new delivery, yes, ma'am.

(R. p. 95, lines 14-20). Also, invoices provided in CD: Respondent's Exhibit No. 4, PDF1, Bates 82, Bates 215 – all similar invoices reflecting tangible personal property provided for the use of the customer.

The testimony of the Respondent's witness, Mr. McCutchen also supports the ALC's application of the true object test here. He testified that in looking at what is the "true object" of a transaction, you look at what the customer is paying for. He testified that in this case the customer is paying for the restroom, the four walls, ceiling, etc. (R. p. 171, lines 14-18). He further testified that, despite the Appellant's agreement, Appellant's Exhibits 5 and 5A stating "service agreement," the true object looks at the substance of the agreement/transaction. (R. p. 172, lines 21-22). He testified that during his time at the Department he had never seen a contract that was not entitled a "service" agreement. (R. p. 172, line 25 – p. 173, line 15).

To reiterate, as noted in the foregoing the ALC based its decision on the substantial evidence on the whole record, accordingly, the Order should be affirmed by this Court.

- B. Because The Appellant Failed To Raise The Issues Of Ambiguity In The Statute, "Contrived" Evidence, South Carolina Department Of Revenue Policy Documents, Misapplication of the LZM Case, And Information From Other Jurisdictions To The Lower Court, Such Issues Are Barred From Review By This Court.

Here, the Court's review is limited to the record below. Section 1-23-610(B). Moreover, the issue presented on appeal must have been raised and ruled on below. Post-trial motions are not necessary to preserve issues that have been raised and ruled on at trial; they are used to preserve those that have been raised to the trial court but not yet ruled upon by it. Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp., 361.S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772; Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 77; 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998), citing Hubbard v. Rowe, 192 S.C. 12, 5 S.E.2d 187 (1939).

Moreover, where an issue has been raised but not ruled on, a party must file a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, Rule 59(e), SCRPC. In Home Medical at 586, the South Carolina Supreme Court again noted the reasons for this rule of law and that Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motions apply in practice before the ALC:

Put simply, Rule 59(e) motions serve a vital purpose for proper issue preservation. As in other appellate matters, we require issue preservation in administrative appeals. *See, e.g., Brown v. South Carolina Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control*, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002) (issues not raised to and ruled upon by the ALC are unpreserved for appellate review); *563 *Carson v. South Carolina Dep't of Natural Res.*, 371 S.C. 114, 120, 638 S.E.2d 45, 48 (2002) (court sitting in appellate capacity may not consider issues not raised or ruled on by administrative agency); *Kiawah Resort Assoc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n*, 318 S.C. 502, 458 S.E.2d 542 (1995) (same). We therefore hold Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motions are permitted in ALC proceedings. Accordingly, the DOR's Post-Order Motion tolled the time period for filing an appeal, and the Notice of Appeal was timely served. We deny Taxpayer's motion to dismiss.

As the Supreme Court noted in Fraternal Order of Police:

Generally, claims or defenses not presented in the pleadings will not be considered on appeal. Toal, Vafai, and Muckenfuss, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* (2d Edition 22002). (citing *McNeely v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 259 S.C. 39, 190 S.E. 2d 4999 (1972).

This rule is consistent with the concept that one cannot present one theory at trial, lose, and then attack the decision below on another theory not argued at trial.

In this case, the Appellant did not raise the issue of ambiguity of any statute during the ALC hearing. Rather, he specifically articulated to the ALC that the issue was a factual determination based on the witnesses' testimony. (R. p. 28, lines 9-11). The transcript is devoid of the Appellant raising issues of "statutory" construction. Even were

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